IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

080 111,100

DONNIE	E GENE CRAIG,)	8 4	Di 100 4 5 mar
	Appellant,)		
vs.)	CASE NO.	73,251
STATE	OF FLORIDA,)		
	Appellee.)		SID J. WHITE
		.)		MAR 26 1990

CLERK, SUFREME COURT APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT O INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA HONORABLE JAMES T. CARLISLE, JUDGE

> MICHAEL L. SULLIVAN Florida Bar No. 214345 Attorney for Appellant 309 N.W. Fourth Street Okeechobee, FL 34972 (813) 763-9460

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 31, 1987, witnesses Suzanne West and Lynn Berryhill, concerned that Thomas Sisco had not arrived at his office and had missed a morning appointment. went directly to Sisco's house to investigate. Upon arriving they Mr. all doors locked but were able to observe Mr. Sisco lying on the floor (R-966). 911 was called and members West Palm Beach Police Department arrived, forced their into the residence to find Mr. Sisco dead of a way in the left side of the head (R-742). Initial included a disheveled billfold (R-746) observations missing property including a Teltech card, gold lighter, and a Lucien Picard wrist watch (R-756,776). A later review of West Palm Beach pawn shop receipts located the Lucien Picard wrist watch as having been pawned by a Daniel Wall 31, 1987. Questioning of Wall by the police revealed the watch had been received by Wall from Nathaniel Brice on about March 31, 1987 (R-929). Witness Nathaniel testified that he had received the Lucien Picard watch State's Exhibit One a Raven .25 caliber automatic pistol same evening after being the middleman for purchase and use of crack cocaine by himself and his companions Daniel Wall. Laura Mayo, and the defendant (R-885). At trial witnesses Laura Mayo and Nathaniel Brice testified to cocaine use with the defendant and receipt of the evidentiary items of the .25 caliber pistol and the Lucien Picard wrist watch. The latter was identified as belonging to Mr. Sisco by Gregory Nash

had originally sold Mr. Sisco the watch (R-1576).

On April 27, 1987, an officer of the West Palm Beach Police Department P.O. McMillan seized a .25 caliber Raven pistol during an arrest of an Oswald Jones on a warrant for At trial witness Nathaniel Brice identified a assault. photograph of Oswald Jones as the person to whom he had sold the Raven .25 caliber pistol (R-885). Additional trial testimony indicated that the .25 caliber pistol had been sold to a Clifton Ellis of Okeechobee, Florida, on September 29, 1986. Okeechobee police witnesses testified that the body of Ellis had been found on or about March 31, Evidence of the stabbing death of Ellis was introduced including evidence of a partial footprint left in blood on a song book cover in the bedroom of Mr. Ellis. Shoes taken from the appellant's residence upon his arrest on violation of probation on April 13, 1987, were compared and matched trial testimony by State's expert Detective George Miller matching the shoe print at the scene of Mr. Ellis' death. addition, a partial palm print found on the interior rear view mirror of an automobile registered in the name of Clifton Ellis was matched with that of appellant. No age could have established for the date of this print. questioning by Okeechobee Police Detective Eugene O'Neill appellant admitted that he had been in Mr. Ellis' approximately a year and a half previously (R-1342). As the shoes taken at the time of his arrest on VOP appellant

admitted ownership and denied lending the shoes. Further evidence from the Ellis crime scene included two .25 caliber cartridges which were later matched by expert Gerald Styers as having been cleared in the Raven .25 caliber pistol (R-1266).

Testimony from Okeechobee Deputy Sheriff Joe Schumacher introduced a statement wherein appellant admitted being at scene of Mr. Ellis' death and watching another person Ellis and obtain а firearm stab Mr. (R-1496). According to Schumacher's testimony appellant stated that. he another person identified as Pete Andrews had driven to Palm Beach County where they met with Palm Beach people Nathaniel Brice and Laura Mayo (R-1497). Schumacher also testified that appellant stated that he and Pete Andrews along with the other Palm Beach people went to the door of Mr. Sisco and when the door was opened one of the other subjects shot Mr. Sisco (R-1498). Appellant in his own case denied the statement to Schumacher but admitted that he knew Laura Mayo and her daughter and had actually gone into the residence of Thomas Sisco accompanied by Laura Mayo's daughter and obtained the Lucien Picard watch when no one was present. Appellant denied any knowledge or assistance in the death of Mr. Sisco or Mr. Ellis (R-1688).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 21, 1987, the Grand Jury returned indictment charging appellant with Count I First Degree Murder, Count II Burglary, Count III Robbery, Count IV Grand Theft, Count V Possession of a Firearm by Convicted Felon (R-2193, 2194). On July 20, 1987, appellant filed demand for discovery (R-2201).

On October 20, 1987, the State filed notice of intent to rely on evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts (R-2214, 2215).

On October 20, 1987, the State filed answer to demand for discovery and demand for reciprocal discovery (R-2216 to 2220).

On November 4. 1987, the parties stipulated to continue the case $t\,o$ the March trial docket, docket sounding March 4, trial March 7, 1988 (R-2229).

On March 4, 1988, appellant filed motion for statement of particulars (R-2230 to 2232) which was denied on 8/19/88 (R-137).

On March 4, 1988. appellant filed motion to suppress line-up, show-up, photographs, other pre-trial confrontation and courtroom identification (R-2233, 2234) which was denied on 8/19/88 (R-28).

On March 4, 1988, appellant filed motion for add tional funds to hire expert for jury selection (R-2235, 2236) which was denied on 8/19/88 (R-126).

On March 4. 1988, appellant filed motion to suppress defendant's confession, admissions and statements (R-2257, 2258) which was denied by the court on 8/19/88.

On June 29, 1988, the State filed notice of intent to rely on evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts (R-2266, 2267).

On July 25, 1988, appellant filed motion to exclude similar fact evidence (R-2282, 2283) which was denied by the court on 8/19/98 (R-137 to 149).

On July 25, 1988, appellant filed motion to suppress evidence obtained through an unreasonable search and seizure (R-2278, 2279) which was denied by the court on 8/19/88 (R-174).

On August 11, 1988, appellant filed motion for severance R-2293, 2294 which was denied, except to Count V, Possession of a Firearm by a Convicted Felon. by the court on 8/19/88 (R-152 to 154).

On August 18, 1988, appellant filed motions to declare death penalty, Section 782.04, 921.141, 922.10, F.S., unconstitutional which was denied by the court on 8/19/58 (R-196).

On August 18, 1988, appellant filed motion for county wide jury pool which was denied on 8/19/88 (R-157).

On August 18, 1988, appellant filed motion to preclude death qualifications of jurors in the innocence of guilt phase of the trial and to utilize a bifurcated jury. if a

penalty phase is necessary (R-2357-2393) which was denied by the court on 8/19/88 (R-195).

On August 19, 1988, appellant filed motion to declare section 921.141, F.S., unconstitutional as applied (R-2396-2413) which was denied by the court on 8/19/88 (R-196).

On August 19, 1988, appellant filed motion to declare Sections 782.04 and 921.141, F.S., unconstitutional (R-2414-2418) which was denied **on** the court on 8/19/88 (R-196).

On August 19. 1988, appellant filed motion to declare Section 921.141(5)(h), F.S., unconstitutional (R-2419-2426) which was denied by the court on 8/19/88 (R-196).

On August 19, 1988, the State filed answer to motion for individual private voir dire (R-2427-2429).

On August 19, 1988, State filed answer to motion to declare Sections 782.04 and 921.141, F.S., unconstitutional (R-2430, 2431).

On August 19, 1988, State filed answer to motion to declare Section 921.141 (5) (h), **F.S.**, unconstitutional (R-2432).

On August 19, 1988, state filed answer to motion to declare Sections 921.141 and 922.10, $\mathbf{F.S.}$, unconstitutional (R-2433).

On August 19, 1988, State filed answer to motion to declare Section 921. 41 (5)(i), F.S., unconstitutional (R-2434).

On August 19. 1988. State filed answer to motion to

declare section 921.141 (5) (d), **F.S.**, unconstitutional (R-2435).

On August 19, 1988, State filed answer to motion to preclude death qualification of jurors (R-2436-2440).

On August 19, 1988, appellant filed motion to declare Sections 782.04 and 921.141, F.S., unconstitutional (R-2451-2453A) which was denied by the court on 8/19/88 (R-196).

On August 19, 1988, appellant filed motion to declare Section 921.141, F.S., unconstitutional (R-2454-2479) which was denied by the court on 8/19/88 (R-196).

On August 19, 1988, appellant filed motion to declare Section 921.141 (5) (d), $\mathbf{F.S.}$, unconstitutional (R-2480-2486) which was denied \mathbf{bv} the court on 8/19/88 (R-196).

On August 19, 1988, appellant filed motion to declare Section 921.141(5)(i), F.S., unconstitutional (R-2487-2504) which was denied by the court on 8/19/88 (R-196).

On August 19, 1985, State filed answer to motion to declare Section 921.141, $\mathbf{F.S.}$, unconstitutional (R-2505, 2506).

On August 19, 1988, State filed response to the defendant's motion relating to composition of petit jury panel (R-2507-2517).

On August 19, 1988, appellant filed motion to declare Sections 921.141 and 922.10, F.S., unconstitutional (R-2518-2526) which was denied by the court on 8/19/88 (R-196).

On August 22, 1988, appellant filed response to county

attorney's objection for appointment of jury expert CR-2527, 2528).

On August 22, 1988, appellant filed defendant's disclosure (R-2536-2543A).

On August 25, 1988, appellant filed supplemental defendant's disclosure (R-2544).

On August 26, 1988, State filed motion to compel witness to speak (R-2545, 2546).

On August 26, 1988, the court filed order for defense counsel to comply with Rule 3.2220 (e) (R-2547),

On August 26, 1988, appellant filed supplemental defendant's disclosure (R-2548).

On September 1, 1988, appellant filed motion to declare Section 921.141 (5) (h), F. S., unconstitutional which was denied by the court on September 1, 1988 (R-2557-2568).

On September 2, 1988, the jury rendered a verdict finding appellant quilty of Counts I, 11, 111, and IV.

On September 12, 1988, appellant filed motion for new trial (R-2573-2577) which \mathbf{was} denied by the court on 9/27/88.

On September 23, 1988, State filed response to appellant's motion for new trial (R-2584, 2585).

On September 23, 1988, the jury rendered an advisory sentence recommendation of death by a vote of 10 to 2 (R-2586-2589).

On September 27, 1988, appellant filed motion to

prohibit death as possible punishment (R-2590-2593) which was denied by the court on 9/27/88.

On September 27, 1988, the court rendered sentence as to Counts I, II and III with judgment (R-2595-2598).

On October 11, 1988, appellant filed timely notice of appeal (R-2604, 2605).

SUMMARY OF CASE

POINT I

Appellant was prejudiced and denied a fair and impartial trial by the introduction of other crime evidence showing him as the perpetrator of an unrelated homicide and buying and using crack cocaine. Neither the homicide nor the use of crack cocaine was relevant to any material facts. The other crime testimony did not touch on any of the elements of the crime charged but was merely prejudicial to appellant and offered for the sole purpose of bad character or propensity. Brvan v. State, 533 So. 2d 744 (Fla. 1988).

POINT II

Appellant was denied equal protection by a Palm Beach administrative order creating jury districts which resulted in an unconstitutional systematic exclusion of a significant proportion of the black population from the jury pool for the entire West Palm Beach jury district. The creation of dual jury districts denied appellant a fair representative cross section of the community. Spencer v. State, 545 So. 2d 13.52 (Fla. 1989).

POINT III

Appellant was arrested on charge of technical violations of probation for purposes of questioning regarding a homicide in Okeechobee. His statements were involuntary and induced by the expectation of a benefit when the Okeechobee detective encouraged his statement by telling

appellant they would go easy on him if he cooperated (R-In add tion, the Okeechobee detective altered the rights waiver form by changing the "can" to "may" in the phrase "Any statement may be used against you in court" implying that appellant's statement regarding the homicide would not be used against him in court. There was evidence disclosed between the questioning of appellant his subsequent arrest on the homicide other than appellant's statement establishing the detective's intent to arrest on violation of probation but question on homicide to surprise Consequently appellant's appellant. statements were involuntary and without benefit of counsel.

POINT IV

Appellant, while being transported to the Department of Corrections pursuant to a sentence of death imposed in Okeechobee County for the death of Clifton Ellis, gave incriminating information to transporting officers. The transporting officers had established a friendly rapport with appellant and elicited the incriminating statements from appellant by asking

"Now that it's all over what real y happened to Mr. Ellis?" (Supp. R-2 & 10)

This question, reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response, was not made during an uninterrupted course of conversation between appellant and the officers, but was asked after the appellant had remained quiet at which time the transporting officer initiated the conversation.

Appellant had refused to make any statement since his arrest on the homicide in Okeechobee April 13, 1987, and had invoked his right to remain silent and benefit of counsel when attempted question by the officers from Palm Beach in this In addition, appellant had filed a declaration declining questioning (R-189), appellant's Exhibit No. 2 in the trial court, and notice of invocation of right to counsel (R-2198). Once appellant invoked his right to remain silent and to have counsel present during further interrogation questioning by the transportation officers was permissible without warnings pursuant to Miranda. State v. DeVille, 513 So. 2d 807 (2DCA 1987).

POINT V

On April 13, 1987, during arrest of appellant on technical violations of probation, Okeechobee Sheriff's deputy did seize shoes for purposes of examining the soles for comparison with an imprint which had been left at the scene of the Ellis homicide. At the time of the seizure of appellant's shoes the officers were looking for a tennis brand or gym shoe imprint with a circular design. After seizure examination of appellant's shoe did reveal a circular design. Appellant's shoes were held and later identified at trial as being the shoes which left the imprint at the Ellis homicide.

Initial observation of appellant's shoes produced no reasonable suspicion. They were not, instrumentalities of the

arrested charge of technical violations of probation. Nor was there any reason to suspect the shoes contained any weapon and were thus seized for protection of officers. Since appellant's shoes were seized and inspected on less than reasonable suspicion this is insufficient to justify a warrantless search and seizure. Schneider v. State, 353 So. 2d 870 (Fla. 1977). Sanchez v. State, 516 So. 2d 1062 (3 DCA 1988).

POINT VI

Pursuant to FRCrP 3.140(n) appellant filed motion for statement of particulars requesting, inter alia, time, date and place of the offense. This motion was denied by the trial court which found that the rule was an anachronism in light of the rules of discovery. The State gave no reason or excuse for not being able to furnish the requested information. At, trial appellant relied on the defense of alibi and the State proved a different date than on the indictment. The State should have been compelled to furnish the requested information as it was within their knowledge and is mandatory under the rule.

POINT VII

The **State**. in pushing this matter to trial, waited until ten days before beginning of trial to complete and prepare ballistics findings and photographs depicting findings. The photographs were not known to appellant until August 29, seven days into trial, although photographs were shown to appellant's appointed expert on August 23, 1988.

of Examination the record reflects the State filed supplemental discovery reporting a lab report by their expert 22. 1988. In any event, the information and photographs were not received by appellant in time for him to adequately prepare. The "Richardson" hearing held insufficient by not making full inquiry into the circumstances of the violation and prejudice to appellant. Compounding this discovery violation was the State's use of appellant's appointed expert as their own ballistics expert. This turnabout occurred when the trial court directed appellant to furnish the name of his appointed expert. effort to comply appellant supplied his appointed expert's name and address on the witness list. After appointed expert's examination and report to appellant, appellant did strike appointed expert's from witness list. name Nevertheless, the trial court found that since appellant's appointed expert had information material to the case he was a witness and therefore subject to use by the State. in spite of appellant's assertion that the appointed expert was never meant to be a witness but to assist appellant and consult regarding firearm identification and tool marking. A "Richardson" hearing was not held reference to this witness. Photographs and cumulative testimony were unfair surprise to appellant and were not disclosed in time for him to adequately prepare. Robinson V. State, 522 So. 2d 869 (2 DCA 1987), Rivers v. State, 526 So.

2d 983 (4 DCA 1988).

POINT VIII

After introduction of other crime evidence of homicide appellant moved for mistrial and upon denial asked that the jury be advised that the homicide was not relevant to the main charge. This request was denied. Appellant's request for instruction to the jury coupled with the pre-trial motions and previous trial objections did adequately alert the trial judge to instruct the jury pursuant to Section 90.404(2). Failure to give this instruction is reversible error when said instruction is specifically and unambiguously requested. Rivers v. State, 425 So. 2d 101 (1 DCA 1982), Hodges v. State, 403 So. 2d 1375 (5 DCA 1981).

POINT IX

At trial a Palm Beach police detective was allowed to testify to the telephone number of a pay phone located near an apartment where appellant had been observed by trial witnesses and from which appellant had allegedly made a telephone call. This was hearsay without any exception. Permitting th s hearsay on a major evidentiary item was manifest error denying appellant effective cross examination and assistance of counsel.

POINT X

In finding the aggravating circumstance pursuant to 921.141(5)(d) the tral court relied on conjecture and hearsay to support the findings of appellant's intent and commission of other crimes. In addition, this circumstance

and the findings gave double consideration to a single act and thus overlapped with the court's finding of aggravating circumstance no. 1. In addition to being duplicitous this circumstance is violative of Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 92 Supreme Ct. 2726, 33 L.Ed. 346 (1972) and State v. Dixon, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973), which requires the aggravating circumstance imposing the sentence of death to be found only when the perpetrator commits such additional acts as to set the crime apart from the norm of capital felonies. The cited circumstances and crimes pursuant to Section 921.141(5)(d) are the norm of capital felonies and thus this circumstance does not set the crime apart from the normal of capital felonies.

POINT XI

The court's findings of aggravating circumstances 3 and 6 were based on the sole finding that appellant and the victim knew each other, and therefore the murder was necessary to avoid identification. Acquaintance alone is insufficient upon which to base a finding of this circumstance. <u>Dufour v. State</u>, 495 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 1986), Griffin v. State, 474 So. 2d 777 (Fla. 1985), and Caruthers v. State, 465 So. 2d 496 (Fla. 1985).

POINT XII

In finding the circumstance pursuant to Section 921.141(5)(h) the trial court relied on mere conjecture as to appellant's intent and appellant's knowledge that the weapon

was operable. Even if appellant knew that the weapon was operable this would not satisfy proof beyond a reasonable doubt of this circumstance. Smith v. State, 515 So. 2d 182 (Fla. 1987).

POINT XIII

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