IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 73,251

DONNIE GENE CRAIG,

Appellant,

vs .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CAROL COBOURN ASBURY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 393665 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

The trial court noted that he has granted these type motions in the past when they were timely filed. Since this motion was not filed in time for the State to act on it, the trial judge ruled that it was untimely. The trial judge specifically noted that the trial had been set for Monday, August 22, 1988. The motion was being heard on Thursday, August 18th (R 157).

Furthermore, the trial date was set March 4, 1988 and was "sealed in blood" (R 4). There was a sufficient amount of time to file a timely motion.

At no time during the hearing did the Appellant offer any statistics for the trial court to base its decision. Appellant does not make any further objects during the course of the jury voir dire or at the end of the trial. No objection is made at the beginning of the State's jury voir dire. objection is made at the end of Appellant's voir dire (R 669). Appellant does not make a record of how many blacks and whites are in the jury pool. The only reason the records indicates that Appellant struck a black juror is because the State made the record (R **675)**. Appellant did move for a mistrial because Mr. Roberts, a juror, had read in the newspaper that the case involved two murders (R 683). After the jury was picked the Appellant did not object on the Spencer issue. He was only interested in getting another preemptory strike (R 684). the jury was impaneled the Appellant moved for a mistrial and asked for another strike. This time he moved for a mistrial in She had indicated that she had reference to Ms. McCarthy, bad situation with a knife pointed at her. Appellant also wanted another strike (R 697). Appellant did not move for a mistrial or dismissal at any time during or after the trial based on the His motion for a new trial is void of any Spencer issue. reference to the jury pool question (R 2573-2577). However, the record does reflect that the Appellant did strike a black juror for no apparent reason (R 674-675).

Although there is no special procedural rule regulating the time in which such a special motion can be timely filed the Appellee would submit that the question of the special districting process to select jurors in Palm Beach County has been known for many years. Appellant had a year and half to move the court as he did two days before the trial. Had he done so the State could have corrected any error. The Appellee submits that this type of motion should be filed in a timely fashion as to give the State the requisite time to make the necessary adjustments. Otherwise, a motion of this type could be used for purposes of delay and not for constitutional reasons.

Appellant is correct in noting that this Court in <u>Spencer v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 545 So.2d 1352 (Fla. 1989) ruled that the administrative order creating the jury pool districts created an unconstitutional systematic exclusion of a significant portion of the black population. However, this Court did not rule that it could not be waived by the defendant. In this case the Appellant did not preserve his objection. At no time after the initial objection did the Appellant raise the issue again. In fact, he did not even waive it in his motion for new trial.

This case can be distinguished from <u>Spencer</u>, <u>supra</u>. Appellant in this case is white and from Okeechobee. His victim was also white. Spencer, on the other hand, was black and was from the western half of Palm Beach County where most of the residence are black. However, Spencer's crime was committed in the eastern district where his trial was held. Prior to his

trial Spencer moved to have the jury drawn from a county wide jury pool. This was denied. Spencer then moved to transfer his trial to the Glades Jury District for trial. This was denied. Spencer then renewed his motion for a county-wide jury venire, asking the Court simply to re-set his trial to a week when a Grand Jury was scheduled to be drawn. This motion was denied. On the day of trial Spencer renewed his motion for a county-wide jury pool. He renewed his motion after the jury was selected and about to be sworn. Finally after the entire jury including alternates were accepted, it was agreed by the Court that the jury-district question was preserved, i.e., that it was not waived by Spencer's acceptance of this jury. After trial, Spencer raised the issue again in his motion for new trial, which the court also denied. Spencer also bitterly objected to any Blacks being dismissed for cause and again bitterly strenuously objected when two black jurors were dismissed for arriving to court too early. In other words Spencer objected to any diminishing of the potential black jurors from the jury These facts can be found in the Statement of the Facts in Spencer's Brief to the Supreme Court of Florida, which is attached hereto for the convenience of the Court and by reference made a part hereof.

Nothing of the sort happened in this case. The Appellant made an objection to the lack of a county-wide jury too late for the State to do anything about it. He did not continuously raise the issue. He did not even renew the objection in his motion for

a new trial after the trial. He did not make a record of how many blacks were on the jury venire. Appellant even used one of his preemptory strikes to strike a black juror. Appellant did not proffer any statistics as to the make-up of the jury and how it would prejudice him, a white defendant. Appellee would submit that the Appellant has failed to preserve this issue for appellant review in much the same manner as a motion for judgment of acquittal is not preserved if not renewed. Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, 3.380.

Since the Appellant did not set forth a proffer of the statistical analysis as to his denial of equal protection due to the Palm Beach County's jury district system and in light of the fact that most constitutional error can be harmless, the Appellee would submit that any error in the jury venire selection was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The Appellant did not preserve the objection and, therefore, waived it.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENT TO OKEECHOBEE POLICE DETECTIVE EUGENE O'NEILL.

The Fifth Amendment guarantees that the government may not force any citizen to be a witness against himself. Remembering that the <u>Miranda</u> rule demonstrates a judicial concern over police misconduct and abuse, neither <u>Miranda</u> nor the Fifth Amendment values which it protects, may be read as prohibiting confessions

where there is no police coercion. Sound policy dictates that, absent police exploitation of a known mental susceptibility, there can be no violation of <u>Miranda</u> of the Fifth Amendment. <u>Brewer v. Williams</u>, 430 U.S. 387, 97 S.Ct. 1232, 51 L.Ed.2d 424 (1977). If the evidence shows that the Appellant was promised nothing in return for the statement, voluntarily waived his <u>Miranda</u> rights, did not appear to be in pain or intoxicated and the Appellant states that he understood that he knew what he was doing, the confession should not be suppressed. <u>Parker v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 436 (Fla. 1984).

In the instant case, it is uncontested that the Appellant was arrested on outstanding warrants (AB 25, R 162). admits that Detective O'Neill informed him that the police wanted to talk to him about the death of Mr. Ellis, and subsequently advised Appellant of this Miranda rights (AB 25, R 176, 178, 179, Detective O'Neill testified that the Appellant understood 189). his Miranda rights, did not indicate that he wanted an attorney, and freely and voluntarily gave the police a statement denying he killed Clifton Ellis (R 182, 188, 191; AB 25). Detective Eugene O'Neill, who arrested the Appellant on the outstanding warrants, also conducted the investigation into the death of Clifton Ellis'. Detective LaFlam was also involved in investigation. So Appellant was arrested by the same officer who conducted the questioning of Appellant.

At trial Detective O'Neill testified to the same thing (R 1333, 1334, 1337-1339). Detective O'Neill testified that at the

time the rights waiver form was read to the Appellant he changed the form to read ''may" instead of "can" (R 1353). He also affirmatively stated that he never told the Appellant that he would see that the Appellant did not get the chair for the Ellis' murder or that he would make it easy on the Appellant (R 1355). By way of explanation, Detective O'Neill explained that he would have told the State Attorney that Appellant cooperated (R 1256, 1357, 1358).

<u>Defense Counsel</u>: And you tried to see that he didn't get the chair for this?

<u>O'Neill:</u> No sir, I never made that kind of a statement.

<u>Defense Counsel</u>: So how-- did you tell him how you were going to make it easy for him?

O'Neill: I can't make it easy for anybody, Mr. Sullivan.

<u>Defense Counsel</u>: I know you can't. But I am asking you: Didn't you tell him that you were going to make it easy for him?

<u>O'Neill</u>: No, I did not tell him I would make it easy for him. Why would I tell him something like that?

<u>Defense Counsel</u>: I don't know. To get him to talk to you, to tell him what a great guy you were, the statement was off the record between you and him and was never going to be used in Court. That is why.

<u>O'Neill</u>: That is an assumption you are making, Mr. Sullivan.

(R 1355). O'Neill testified that he did not remember the exact words but that what he would have told him was that any cooperation would have been told to the State (R 1356).

Thus, the testimony of Detective O'Neill is that he did not promise any benefit or leniency to the Appellant if he made a statement. The alteration of the form to read "may" instead of "can" does not alter the meaning of the sentence, "Anything you say can (or may) be used against you in a court of law".

Appellant testified that prior to the reading of his <u>Miranda</u> rights he was informed that he was a suspect in a murder (R 1701). He admitted that his <u>Miranda</u> rights were read to him, that he understood his rights; especially, the right to an attorney. In fact, after talking to O'Neill for awhile he did exercise his rights to any attorney (R 1700-1701).

Appellant presented no testimony that the police exploited a known weakness. In fact at the penalty phase of the trial it became apparent that the Appellant was not a newcomer to the criminal justice system. This is not the Appellant's first brush with the law. Appellant testified that he is in control of his life, knows that it is wrong to kill someone, can function in society, can make his own decisions and he understands that a gun can kill someone (R 2003-A, 2005, 2007, 2019). Appellant also testified that the has never been treated for mental problems and that he understands right from wrong (R 2006).

The courts have never embraced the theory that a defendant's ignorance of the full consequences of his decisions vitiates the voluntary nature of the confession. Oregon v. Elstad, 470 U.S. 298, 105 S.Ct. 1285, 1297, 84 L.Ed.2d 222 (1985). Thus, where the record reveals evidence to support the trial court's

findings, the reviewing court must accept these findings. <u>State v. Spurling</u>, **385** So.2d 672 (Fla. 2nd DCA **1985).** Here there was ample evidence to support the trial court's order denying the motion to suppress.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENT TO DEPUTY SHERIFF JOE SCHUMACHER.

Appellant claims that his statements to Joe Schumacher were not spontaneous and voluntary. He claims that the statement was illicited by a question posed by Deputy Schumacher. In order to bolster this idea Appellant quotes from a supplemental record containing a transcript of an interview given by Correction Officer Al Stone and Deputy Sheriff Joe Schumacher. This interview was not placed into evidence by anyone and it was not used to impeach the testimony of Schumacher either at the motion to suppress hearing or at the trial. It is not signed or authenticated in any manner. Appellant states that Sqt. Schumacher elicited the incriminating statement by asking the question: "Now that it's all over, what really happened to Mr. Ellis (AB 30).

However, this is Al Stones account of the conversation (Supp. R-2). Sgt. Schumacher stated in the interview that he asked a question about how the bullets got underneath Ellis' body (Supp. R-10). At the motion to suppress hearing and the trial Sgt. Schumacher testified that Appellant started talking about

getting the death penalty and that he then asked the Appellant how the bullets got underneath the body of Ellis (R 53, 54, 64, 66, 86, 1515, 1519). Appellant's quoting Al Stone's interview is an incorrect rendition of the facts of this case. Moreover, Appellant did not use Al Stone's interview to impeach Schumacher and the interview was never placed into evidence. Appellant's use of Al Stone's unauthenticated, unsigned interview to bolster his argument that his statements made to Schumacher were involuntary does not wash with the Appellee.

Sgt. Schumacher testified that no questions were asked to get the Appellant to talk (R 53). No threats were made. coercion was used. No pressure of any kind was used. was not interrogating the Appellant (R 53, 56, 57, 65). officer asked the Appellant any questions about the Palm Beach County case (R 68). Schumacher testified that Appellant began to talk and would not shut up (R 54). Since the Appellant was not being questioned or interrogated his Miranda rights were not read Furthermore, Schumacher only asked a question about the bullets under Ellis' body. Appellant had already been tried and convicted of this crime and any information regarding the specifics of Ellis' death would not be significant to the trial involving Sisco's death. At least not at the time the question It was only the reference to the Palm Beach case was asked. that made the Appellant's statement significant. Consequently, Miranda rights would not have been read to Appellant because the only question asked related to a murder Appellant had already

been tried and convicted. Furthermore, Schumacher was not interrogating Appellant.

The trial court noted that all Schumacher asked was how the bullets got under Ellis' body and from there the Appellant went on and on some of which related to aspects of this case involving Sisco's murder (R 75, 1509).

Appellant testified at the hearing also. He stated that Schumacher was asking yes and no questions regarding Laura Mayo, Pete Andrews and others. Appellant answered yes or no because Schumacher was driving very fast (R 81, 82, 85). Appellant admits that he does not remember what was said but that "he was just telling them anything" (R 85).

Appellant states in his brief that the officers had built up a friendly rapport with him and this induced him to make the statement (AB 30-31). However, in his testimony at the hearing and at trial, Appellant testified that Schumacher always treated Appellant unfairly and that Schumacher threatened him (R 86, 8788, 1721-1725). Furthermore, familiarity is not abusive police tactics which would require a finding of a violation of Miranda.

It is a well settled point of law that statements that are not the product of interrogation are spontaneous, and are admissible in evidence even though the defendant is in custody when he makes them. Rosher v. State, 319 So.2d 150 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1975). Voluntary statements made prior to Miranda rights being read to an accused which are not the result of any interrogation or police tricks, coercion, force, over-reaching, or entrapment

are admissible into evidence. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 222 So.2d 793 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969). This case is not unlike <u>Sikes v. State</u>, 313 So.2d 436 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1975) where it was held that defendant's confession which was spontaneously made to prison employees while her first appeal was pending was admissible at defendant's second trial, although custodial authorities had knowledge of the appeal and defendant had counsel but was not advised of her <u>Miranda</u> rights.

If there was any error that error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt as the Appellant denied killing anyone and also admitted at trial that he was driving Ellis' car that night and did go to Sisco's house to steal his watch. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

As Appellant points out in his brief, "Once Appellant invoked his right to remain silent and to have counsel present further interrogation was not permissible unless counsel was made available to him unless Appellant himself had initiated further communication. State v. Deville, 513 So.2d 807 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1987)" (AB 31). The facts adduced at the motion hearing and at trial indicate that the Appellant initiated the communication and, therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Appellant's motion to suppress.

POINT V

TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE SHOES AS EVIDENCE.

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